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Overview 
The Aging and Disability Resource Center (ADRC) initiative, 
funded jointly by the Administration on Aging and the Centers 
for Medicare and Medicaid Services, promotes the integration 
of long-term care information and referral services, benefits and 
options counseling, and access to publicly and privately financed 
services and benefits for those in need of long-term supports.  
ADRC grantees are required to serve adults 60 years of age and 
older and persons with disabilities (e.g., people with physical 
disabilities, mental illness, traumatic brain injury, 
intellectual/developmental disabilities, etc.).  ADRC clients 
include people of all income levels and from a variety of racial, 
cultural, and linguistic minority groups. 

This issue brief provides an overview of cultural competence 
and how ADRCs can increase their outreach and strengthen 
their relationship with diverse populations and community-
based organizational partners.  It also discusses the definition of 
cultural competence and how it can be best implemented, 
including: 

► Key demographics, disparities, and barriers to culturally 
competent service provision 

► Strategies to ensure culturally competent ADRCs 

► Selected organizational cultural competence 
assessment tools, practices and standards 

► Examples of culturally competent practices reported by 
current ADRC grantees, and 

► A list of cultural competence resources that may be 
useful for ADRC staff. 

What is Cultural Competence? 
Culture is often defined as “the shared values, traditions, norms, 
customs, arts, history, folklore, language and institutions of a 
group of people.”1  Culture shapes the way people see their 
world and how they function within it, as well as helping to craft 
personal or group values and attitudes.  Culture is affected by 
many factors, including geographic residence, income or 
educational level, and duration of residency in the U.S.   

Additionally, understanding culture helps increase our 

comprehension of how people interpret the environment 
around them. 

Cultural competence can be defined as “a set of cultural 
behaviors, attitudes, and policies that come together in a 
system, agency, or among professionals that enables effective 
work in cross-cultural situations.”2  Additionally, cultural 
competence “ensures an understanding, appreciation, and 
respect of cultural differences and similarities within, among, 
and between groups.  It is a goal that systems, agencies, 
programs, and/or individuals should continually aspire to 
achieve.”3  Cultural competence is widely recognized as an 
integral component in the elimination of health care disparities, 
but efforts remain ongoing on how best to understand and 
implement this overarching concept. 

Cultural competence can be demonstrated by a broad 
knowledge of cultural groups, but it also includes having 
practical, experienced-based knowledge about the cultural and 
linguistic communities being served by an organization or 
program.4  This combined technical and operational knowledge 
should then be used in programs and services to improve 
individuals’ access and quality of care while at the same time 
being respectful of individuals’ cultural health practices and 
beliefs. 

Demographics 
The U.S. population is becoming increasingly racially and 
ethnically diverse.  According to the 2000 U.S. Census, racial and 
ethnic minority groups (e.g., African Americans, Hispanics, 
Asian/Pacific Islanders, and Native Americans/Alaska Natives) 
comprised approximately 34% of the population.5  By 2050, this 
figure is expected to rise to 50% of the U.S. population, with 
Hispanics representing the fastest-growing minority group (from 
a rate of 13% in the 2000 Census to a projected 24% by 2030).6  
If racial and ethnic health and health-care disparities continue 
unabated as the proportion of people in minority populations 
grows, there will likely be a corresponding increase in the 
number of individuals who will be at risk for disease and poorer 
quality of health care.  The future elderly population will also 
differ from today’s older adults in terms of their race, family 
structure, socioeconomic status, education, geographic 
distribution, and openness regarding their sexual orientation.7 
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Intersections between Race/Ethnicity and 
Chronic Conditions 
Different racial and ethnic groups face different risks of 
experiencing chronic health conditions and disability and 
needing assistance with personal care activities (see Exhibit 1).8 

 
Source: National Center for Health Statistics.  (2008). Health, 
United States, 2008, With Chartbook on Trends in the Health of 
Americans.  Hyattsville, MD:  US, Table 58.  Web document at:  
http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/hus/women.htm

Disparities 

   

Research also indicates that minorities are more likely that non-
Hispanic Whites to have problems accessing high-quality health 
care and are less likely to have a regular doctor. For details on 
disparities in health status, see the Commonwealth Fund 
Chartbook on racial and ethnic disparities.9  

Research indicates that these disparities may be caused by 
complex interactions between genetic variations, social or 
environmental factors (e.g., socioeconomic status, poverty, poor 
housing, and neighborhood segregation), health and risk 
behaviors, and differences in service delivery.  Provided below 
are some frequent structural barriers to culturally competent 
care that people may experience. 

Structural Causes of Health Disparities 
External or “structural” barriers include technical or logistical 
factors that limit a person’s access to services10  such as:  

Lack of access to transportation—Lack of access to services 
because of transportation difficulties often disproportionately 
affects older adults who are lower-income and racial/ethnic 
minorities.  Older people who have difficulty with English may 
have difficulty obtaining a driver’s license, using public 
transportation, and accessing other resources available to assist 
them. 

Lack of adequate health insurance and/or the inability to pay 
for services—This higher burden of illness and functional 
impairment coupled with limited income is more often 
experienced by minority elders.  High medical costs can also 
represent a large share of an individual’s expenses, especially in 
lower-income populations, accounting for approximately 31.5% 
of income for those at the lowest socioeconomic levels. 

Language difficulties—Language or interpretation difficulties 
between individuals and health care providers can result in 
decreased access to care, limited consumer comprehension, 
decreased satisfaction and quality of care, and increased cost 
related to inefficiencies in the system.  This is particularly 
notable because roughly one-sixth of the U.S. population speaks 
a language other than English.11 

Low health literacy—Health literacy—the degree to which a 
person is able to obtain, process, and understand basic 
information needed to make appropriate decisions about his or 
her health—is a fundamental issue affecting health disparities 
and avoidable health care costs.12  Estimates indicate that 90 
million U.S. adults have difficulty understanding and acting upon 
health information, of whom 40 million read below the 5th-
grade level.13  Additionally it is estimated that approximately 
14% of all American adults have below basic general literacy 
skills, and 29% have only basic literacy skills in either English or 
Spanish.14 

Strategies for Improving Cultural 
Competence in ADRCs 
The sections below describe several strategies that state and 
local programs implementing ADRCs can employ to ensure that 
their organizations are more culturally competent: 

1) Establish organizational policies and procedures on 
cultural competence; 

2) Develop and monitor staff and organizational cultural 
competence; 

3) Establish frequent quality improvement efforts  
(e.g., collecting racial/ethnic client data, conducting 
consumer satisfaction surveys). 

http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/hus/hus07.pdf�
http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/hus/hus07.pdf�
http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/hus/hus07.pdf�
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Establish Organizational Cultural Competence 
Best Practices 

Exhibit 2 is a checklist for organizational cultural competence, 
adapted by AoA from the National Center for Cultural 
Competence, Georgetown University Child Development 
Center.15  This checklist offers useful guidance regarding how 
ADRCs can develop and ensure organizational cultural 
competence. 

Building cultural competence can bring many benefits to 
organizations, including:16, 17 

► Skills in working with people, regardless of race, 
culture, and/or ethnicity 

► Knowledge of the effects of culture on individual clients 

► Confidence in the ability to work with all populations 

► Trust in individuals and their abilities 

► Increased comfort levels regarding the support the 
organization is able to provide, and  

► Leadership skills that can be used to show others how 
to engage in culturally competent work. 

To inform efforts to develop cultural competence in your 
organization, it is helpful to start by gathering information about 
the communities and populations within your program site’s 
service area.18  This information will provide a picture of the 
types of groups you may be serving and important statistics 
related to the specific needs that exist across all groups.  Once 
information is available on the range of populations your ADRC 
may serve, more in-depth, group-specific information (e.g., 
language or communication styles, religious or spiritual beliefs, 
family values, social customs) should be gathered to better 
understand their needs and expectations for health and human 
services provision.19  It is important to note that this information 
should be updated regularly as the makeup of local 
communities consistently shifts and changes over time. 

Information can be gathered through data analysis and by 
engaging with knowledgeable staff members, current clients, 
community members, or organizations that can offer insights, 
facts, and statistics on particular cultural or linguistic groups. 

Develop more culturally competent 
communication channels 
Organizations can take a variety of steps to develop more 
culturally competent communications.20  To accommodate 
ethnic/linguistic groups, organizations may hire bilingual 
interpreters knowledgeable about health-care terminology who 
can translate and/or interpret information to diverse 
populations.  To translate materials, it is best to use a 
professional translator who is fluent in both English and the 

target language to ensure that the sense and context of the 
message is preserved.  Additionally, contracting with 
commercial telephone interpreter services may be useful for 
some organizations and programs, especially those with many 
clients speaking different languages. To accommodate disability 
groups, organizations should consider hiring staff who are 
trained in American Sign Language and are familiar with 
assistive technology-based communication. 

Other ways to make your organization’s communications and 
atmosphere more culturally competent to diverse groups 
include: 

► Ensuring that posted signs appear in multiple languages  

► Providing cross-cultural and multi-lingual reading 
materials--including disability publications (e.g., ABILITY 
Magazine)21 and large-print and Braille reading in 
waiting areas  

► Ensuring that culturally-diverse staff, including staff 
with disabilities, are available on-hand to work with 
consumers 

► Configuring service counters to allow for eye-level 
wheelchair-access materials in waiting areas 

 

Exhibit 2: Cultural Competence Checklist for Success 

► Make the organization’s environment more 
welcoming and attractive based on clients cultural 
mores 

► Avoid stereotyping and misapplication of scientific 
knowledge 

► Include community input at the planning and 
development stage 

► Use educational approaches and materials that will 
capture the attention of your intended audience 

► Understand there is no one recipe for success 

► Hire staff that reflect the diversity of the client 
population 

► Understand cultural competency is continually 
evolving 

► Be creative in finding ways to communicate with 
population groups that have limited English-
speaking proficiency 

(AoA, Achieving Cultural Competence: A Guidebook for Providers of 
Services to Older Americans and Their Families, 2001) 
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Also important to cultural competence is recognizing variations 
in literacy levels among individuals in all linguistic groups and 
making appropriate accommodations to ensure clients are able 
to understand information and materials presented to them, 
whether in English or a different language.  In one study 
surveying the state reading level guidelines for Medicaid written 
materials nationwide, 66% of Medicaid agency respondents 
indicated that their guidelines require their materials to be at 
the 6th-grade reading level; 22% responded that their materials 
were at lower than the 6th grade level.22  Staff members may 
need training on when to provide certain oral communications 
to convey relevant information to the populations they are 
serving. 

Involve diverse community representatives and 
build relationships/partnerships 
Involving community leaders and organizations representing 
diverse racial and ethnic groups as partners or advisors to your 
ADRC can be useful for increasing cultural competence.23  In 
addition, these efforts to build relationships and partnerships to 
address organizational cultural competency can build trust and 
confidence.  Developing these relationships can help in 
leveraging and pooling available resources and expertise, as well 
as facilitating useful synergies to benefit everyone involved in 
the partnerships. 

These valuable community partners can be invited to be voting 
members of governing bodies, appointees to community 
advisory boards, task forces or panels, or participate in 
qualitative research methods (e.g., stakeholder interviews, focus 
groups).24  In addition, community members from target 
minority groups can also serve as volunteers or advocates to 
help individuals navigate the system and/or the various 
programs or services provided to them. 

Develop Staff Cultural Competence 
Another important strategy for developing a culturally 
competent staff and organization is to ensure that new and 
current staff receive training on providing culturally and 
linguistically competent services to the target populations 
served by the ADRC.25  The organization should also focus on 
ensuring the diversity of the ADRC staff serving consumers in 
order to adequately reflect the “face” of the populations located 
in the ADRC’s service area. 

Provide ongoing training and evaluation 
Important to developing culturally competent staff is instituting 
and underscoring the importance of training requirements for 
all relevant staff in areas such as cultural competency practices 
or basic language sensitivity.  A comprehensive, replicable 
training curriculum should be in place for staff education and 
access to information.  The training curriculum should be 

customizable to allow for the addition of modules on topic areas 
important to the specific communities being served.  Finally, the 
organization will need to ensure budgeting provisions for staff 
training, including new staff orientation, periodic refresher or 
review sessions, and mechanisms to test staff members’ 
knowledge and demonstrable skills or to assess progress during 
annual employee performance reviews.  These practices help to 
institutionalize cultural competency practices in the 
organization, make it recognizable to staff as an important 
component of the services they are able to provide to all their 
consumers, and build the case for securing sustainable funding 
to expand or enhance culturally competent services. 

Increase staff diversity 
Staff cultural competence in organizations can also be promoted 
through active efforts to diversify the internal workforce.  This 
can be accomplished by increasing targeted recruitment 
practices to recruit applicants who are representative of the 
cultural or linguistic backgrounds comprising the target 
populations being served by your organization.  Involvement of 
diverse staff members is useful for facilitating the 
communication process with consumers and making them more 
comfortable by allowing the opportunity to engage with a 
representative of their own racial, cultural or linguistic group.  
Organizations can also seek candidates with qualifications such 
as experience working with diverse cultures or ability to speak 
multiple languages.  These diverse and culturally competent 
staff members may be instrumental in providing direct services, 
serving as interpreters between other staff and clients, and 
serving as a staff training or information resource. 

Practice Ongoing Quality Improvement Efforts 
Ongoing efforts to ensure high-quality services to the cultural or 
linguistic groups included within your organization’s primary 
service area are critical to ensuring a culturally competent 
ADRC.26  Organizations can assess progress and customer needs 
by doing the following: 

1) Obtaining feedback from consumers regarding their 
satisfaction with the services/support you are 
providing them; 

2) Collecting relevant racial/ethnic and language data to 
understand the types of people served and the type 
and magnitude of their needs; and 

3) Measuring outcomes to ensure your ADRC is 
achieving the outcomes and objectives it has set 
forth for all of the individuals it serves. 
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Conduct customer satisfaction surveys 
Customer satisfaction surveys should be conducted to gauge 
how well a program or organization is meeting the expressed 
and unexpressed needs of the target populations it serves.27  
These surveys allow individuals to offer their opinions regarding 
services currently offered to them and to give them a chance to 
offer concerns or suggestions for areas of improvement or new 
service offerings that may be important to them.  Surveys 
should be culturally and linguistically appropriate for the 
populations your organization is serving and available in various 
formats accessible to consumers at all educational and 
socioeconomic levels. 

Collect data needed to enhance and monitor 
organizational cultural competence 
Collecting information about clients’ race/ethnicity and 
language preferences can help illuminate the extent of need for 
services for specific cultural or linguistic groups in the ADRC’s 
service area.  For example, information about clients’ language 
preferences can help an ADRC assess the need for translating 
materials into other languages or for hiring an interpreter.  
Information about the racial, ethnic, and cultural background of 
clients can help organizations assess the extent to which staff 
reflect the diversity of the populations served.    

Client-intake databases may be set up to ensure that 
background on individuals, including cultural, linguistic and 
personal information, is adequately assessed and documented 
for use in case management and options counseling on available 
programs and services.  Organizations can also capture cultural 
and linguistic preference information by tailoring or revising 
client forms to include questions related to these indicators. 

Develop process and outcome measures that 
reflect the needs of diverse groups 
Developing process and outcome measures that adequately 
reflect the needs of diverse groups is another critical step 
toward cultural competence quality improvement.  The first 
step is to identify the desired outcomes at the individual, 
community, and systems levels.  Next, the organization can 
develop performance measures/indicators of progress for each 
of the expected outcomes.  Establishing goals and measures will 
help your organization understand what it is trying to achieve, 
whether changes can be made that will result in an 
improvement, and how you will know if any changes are 
attributable to your efforts.  Measuring progress on key 
indicators that reflect the needs of diverse groups will put your 
organization in a better position to evaluate the overall 
effectiveness of efforts to effectively serve people from all of 
your target populations. 

Cultural Competence Practices 
and Assessments 
The sections below describe efforts at the national and state 
levels to improve organizations’ and providers’ cultural 
competence in health care and human services settings, 
including: 

1) An organizational assessment profile for gauging 
cultural competence, and 

2) National professional and accreditation standards for 
providing culturally and linguistically appropriate 
services. 

Organizational Cultural Competence 
Assessment Profile 

Regularly assessing and enhancing organizational cultural 
competence can improve access and quality of services and 
increase the organization’s reputation among diverse minority 
and cultural groups.  One tool for organizational assessment is 
the Organization Cultural Competence Assessment Profile, an 
analytic and organizing framework and set of indicators 
designed by The Lewin Group for the Health Resources and 
Services Administration (HRSA) for assessing organizational 
cultural competence in the delivery of health care services.28  
The Profile can be used in routine performance monitoring, 
quality review and improvement, assessment of compliance 
with cultural competence standards or guidelines, and periodic 
evaluation studies.  See Appendix B for more information and 
exhibits representing all of the Assessment Profile components. 

Professional and Accreditation Organization 
Standards 

The National Standards for Culturally and Linguistically 
Appropriate Services (CLAS) are the first national standards for 
cultural competence in health care.  The U.S. Department of 
Health and Human Services (HHS) Office of Minority Health 
developed the standards to correct inequities in the provision of 
health care in organizations receiving federal funds.29  The 14 
CLAS standards include mandates, guidelines, and 
recommendations and are organized by three themes: 

1) Culturally competent care, 

2) Language access services, and 

3) Organizational supports. 

The Joint Commission on Accreditation of Healthcare 
Organizations, which accredits hospitals, home care agencies, 
and other health care organizations, now requires accredited 
providers to employ policies to provide for effective 
communication for each client served.30  The Joint Commission 
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has also partnered with the National Committee on Quality 
Assurance (NCQA) to develop quality indicators related to 
language access and culturally competent practices. 

The NCQA accredits primary health and behavioral health 
managed care organizations and requires accredited 
organizations to provide materials in languages of the major 
non-English speaking populations that make up at least 10 
percent of the client base.31 

State Examples 
A number of ADRCs have engaged in efforts to promote cultural 
competence and provide outreach to cultural and linguistic 
minority groups in their states.  These efforts include developing 
partnerships with specific cultural/linguistic groups, training 
ADRC staff to provide culturally sensitive assistance to 
consumers, and conducting outreach to members of minority 
groups living in the ADRC service area. 

Arizona 
In Arizona, the Inter Tribal Council of Arizona (ITCA), which 
represents 20 tribes, has played an active role in the 
development and implementation of Arizona Links (the state’s 
ADRC program) since the beginning of the program.  ITCA 
representatives are participants on various state committees 
and regional networks.  Individual tribes in the state are now 
interested in developing their own local ADRCs, and the ITCA 
will be instrumental in deciding the configuration of these tribal 
ADRCs.  Additionally, coordination may be required to serve 
tribal members who may be moving off and on reservations. 

In addition, cultural sensitivity, including sensitivity to tribal 
customs in each of the state’s local regions, has been included 
as a topic in cross-training of staff and Arizona Links pilot site 
trainings. 

Florida 
Florida’s ADRCs have developed marketing plans that include 
targeted outreach activities to local minority, multi-cultural, and 
low-income populations.  Special efforts are made to recruit 
multi-lingual individuals to work for the ADRCs.  For instance, 
the Broward County ADRC has native Spanish and Creole-
speaking staff working on the Elder Helpline.  In the Senior 
Resource Alliance (SRA) pilot site’s Triage Unit, there are bi-
lingual and multi-lingual staff answering the telephones and 
conducting outreach activities with consumers.  SRA and the 
Pasco-Pinellas pilot site also work with various minority groups 
to offer educational programs, presentations, and resources 
throughout the year, with basic materials and presentations 
provided in other languages such as Spanish, Creole, Chinese, 
Vietnamese, and Korean.  Trainings also have been held for the 
ADRC Local Coalition workgroup members, providers, and ADRC 

staff on cultural diversity and innovative ways to reach key 
target populations. 

Idaho 
In Idaho, one of the local tribes manages a “City Link” 
Transportation system; a free bus/van that operates in the 
Coeur d’ Alene area to provide transportation to the local 
casino.  However, many individuals use the bus for general 
transportation because no public transportation system serves 
the frontier area of Northern Idaho.  The tribes have been very 
receptive to accommodating anyone needing service along the 
pre-set route, and the ADRC has recognized them for the 
valuable service they are providing senior citizens in Northern 
Idaho.  Over time, a partnership has developed in which the 
ADRC supports grant-writing efforts for the tribe’s 
transportation system.  This has been a unique partnership 
because the ADRC has worked to fit into what the tribe was 
already offering.  The tribe ultimately controls the resources, 
and the state has a deep investment in maintaining the 
partnership. 

Minnesota 
In Minnesota, efforts have gone into outreach and assistance to 
local tribes and other minority populations.  Several American 
Indians have been trained as State Health Insurance & 
Assistance Program and Senior Medicare Patrol volunteers and 
have distributed materials at health and senior fairs throughout 
the reservations.  Benefits coordinator volunteers have also 
assisted individuals with filling out paperwork and organizing 
bills.  Among the state’s Latino population, the Metro AAA has 
bilingual Senior LinkAge Line staff that work with volunteers to 
educate primarily Spanish-speaking clients on topics such as 
how to read Medicare Summary Notices or insurance 
Explanations of Benefits.   Additionally, through a grant from the 
Community Service/Service Development Funds, the Jordan 
New Life Church in Minneapolis (serving a predominantly 
African American population), currently operates as a SHIP site 
and Family Support 360 grantee and will also serve as an ADRC 
Access point. 
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Moving Forward 
In summary, cultural competence is an important component of 
organizational operations, particularly in an increasingly diverse 
world where an array of racial, cultural, and linguistic groups are 
being served.  Research reveals that racial and ethnic disparities 
in accessing quality care persist, due to numerous structural and 
cultural barriers to accessing quality care and inadequate 
cultural competence of service providers.  Organizations serving 
older people and people with disabilities can take a number of 
specific strategies to improve cultural competence and better 
meet the needs of the groups they serve. 

Cultural competence remains a continually evolving concept 
that shifts along with our rapidly diversifying society.  ADRCs 
should continue their efforts to ensure they are recognized as 
an informed, reputable entry point for services and access to 
long-term support among all populations that may need their 
services.  Following this issue brief is a list of organizations and 
resources to assist ADRC grantees in gaining a greater 
understanding of cultural competence and enhancing cultural 
competence within their organizations. 
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Appendix A:  Cultural Competence 
Resources 
Below is a broad array of organizational resources that may be 
helpful in ADRCs learning about and applying cultural 
competence principles to their ongoing work with consumers. 

U.S. Department of Health and Human 
Services (HHS) Links: 

► AoA:  Older Adults and Mental Health:  Issues and 
Opportunities: 

► Agency for Health Research and Quality (AHRQ), Minority 
Health Page: 

http://www.globalaging.org/health/us/mental.pdf 

► AHRQ, National Healthcare Disparities Report: 

http://www.ahrq.gov/research/minorix.htm 

► Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), Office of 
Minority Health and Health Disparities:   

http://www.ahrq.gov/qual/nhdr06/nhdr06.htm 

► CDC, Trends in Vision and Hearing Among Older Americans: 

http://www.cdc.gov/omhd/ 

► Indian Health Services: 

http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/ahcd/agingtrends/02vision.pdf 

► Management Sciences for Health (MSH), HHS, HRSA, and 
Bureau of Primary Health Care, Provider’s Guide to Quality 
& Culture: 

http://www.ihs.gov/ 

► National Institutes of Health (NIH), National Center on 
Minority Health and Health Disparities 

http://erc.msh.org/mainpage.cfm?file=1.0.htm&module=provider&
language=English 

► NIH, National Institute on Aging:  

http://www.ncmhd.nih.gov/ 

► Office of Disease Prevention and Health Promotion:  Health 
Communication Activities:  Health Literacy Improvement: 

http://www.nia.nih.gov/ 

► Office of Minority Health: 

http://www.health.gov/communication/literacy/default.htm 

► Office of Minority Health, Think Cultural Health: 

http://www.omhrc.gov 

► Office of Minority Health:  National Standards on Culturally 
and Linguistically Appropriate Services (CLAS): 

http://www.thinkculturalhealth.org 

Other Federal Links: 

http://www.omhrc.gov/templates/browse.aspx? 
lvl=2&lvlID=15 

► Federal Interagency Working Group on Limited English 
Proficiency: 

► US Census Bureau: 

http://www.lep.gov 

► US Census Bureau, Migration and Data Reports: 

http://www.census.gov/ 

► US Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics: 

http://www.census.gov/population/www/cen2000/migration.html 

University/Academic Resources: 
http://www.bls.gov/ 

► Bennett, J.M., Developing Intercultural Competence:  A 
Reader, Intercultural Communication Institute, 2004. 

► Connolly, Laura, “Long-Term Care and Hospice:  The Special 
Needs of Older Gay Men and Lesbians,” Journal of Gay and 
Lesbian Social Services, Vol. 5, No. 1. 19996. 

► Georgetown University, National Center for Cultural 
Competence: 

► Hendrix, Levanne R., Ethnogeriatric Curriculum Module:  
Health and Health Care of American Indian and Alaska 
Native Elders, Stanford University: 

http://www11.georgetown.edu/research/gucchd/nccc/ 

► Landis, D., Bennett, J.M., and Bennett, M.J., Handbook of 
Intercultural Training, Thousand Oaks, CA:  Sage, 2004. 

http://www.stanford.edu/group/ethnoger/americanindian.html 

► National Resource Center on Native American Aging, 
University of North Dakota, Center for Rural Health: 

► Parker, Victoria A. and Scott Miyake, “Cultural Competence 
in Nursing Homes:  Issues and Implications for Education,” 
Journal of Gerontology and Geriatrics Education, Vol. 28, 
No. 2, 2007. 

http://www.med.und.nodak.edu/depts/rural//nrcnaa/ 

► Purdue University, International Extension Curriculum, 
Lecture 2:  The Bennett Developmental Model of 
Intercultural Sensitivity. 

http://www.agriculture.purdue.edu/oap/AGR101/documents/Inter
culturalModels.pdf 
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► University of Washington Medical Center, Patient and 
Family Education Services, “Culture Clues” Tip Sheets: 

► Wurzel, J., Toward Multiculturalism:  A Reader in 
Multicultural Education, Newton, MA:  Intercultural 
Resource Corporation, 2004. 

http://depts.washington.edu/pfes/CultureClues.htm 

Organizational Resources: 
► American Institute for Managing Diversity: 

► American Psychological Association’s Public Interest 
Directorate:  “Enhancing Your Interactions with People with 
Disabilities”: 

http://www.aimd.org/ 

► Association of American Indian Physicians: 

http://www.apa.org/pi/disability/resources/publications/enhancing
.aspx#  

► Cahill, Sean, Ken South, and Jane Spade.  Outing Age:  Public 
Policy Issues Affecting Gay, Lesbian, Bisexual and 
Transgender Elders.  The Policy Institute of the National Gay 
and Lesbian Task Force Foundation: 

http://www.aaip.org/ 

► Coalition of Limited English Speaking Elderly: 

http://www.thetaskforce.org/downloads/reports/reports/ 
OutingAge.pdf 

► Community Partnerships for Older Adults:  “Inclusion and 
Diversity”: 

http://www.clese.org/ 

► The Cross Cultural Health Program:  

http://www.partnershipsforolderadults.org/resources/levelone.asp
x?sectionGUID=8da7bbe9-2d4b-4c2e-8a49-ff12b211ae54 

► DiversityRx, Sponsored by the National Conference of State 
Legislatures, Resources for Cross Cultural health Care, and 
Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation: 

http://www.xculture.org/ 

► Forum on Religion, Spirituality and Aging (FORSA)—A 
constituent group of the American Society on Aging: 

http://www.diversityrx.org/ 

► LGBT Aging Issues Network (LAIN) A constituent group of 
the American society on Aging: 

http://www.asaging.org/networks/index.cfm?cg=FORSA 

► The Life Span Institute at University of Kansas.  Guidelines 
for Reporting and Writing about People with Disabilities: 

www.asaging.org/lgain 

► Mental Health Aging Network (MHAN)–A constituent group 
of the American Society on Aging: 

http://www.lsi.ku.edu/~lsi/aboutus/guidelines.shtml 

► Minnesota’s Governor’s Council on Disabilities, Parallels in 
Time I & II:  A History of Developmental Disabilities. 

http://www.asaging.org/networks/index.cfm?cg=MHAN 

http://www.mncdd.org/parallels/index.html 

► The National Alliance for Hispanic Health’s A Primer for 
Cultural Proficiency:  

http://www.mncdd.org/parallels2/index.htm 

► National Association for State Units on Aging; National 
Aging I & R Support Center’s Diversity Study Guide:  

http://www.hispanichealth.arizona.edu/Primer%20for%20Culural%
20Proficiency%20NAHH.pdf 

► National Caucus and Center on the Black Aged: 

http://www.nasua.org/issues/tech_assist_resources/national_ 
aging_ir_support_ctr/developing_aging_competency/index.html 

► National Coalition for the Homeless.  “Homelessness Among 
Elderly Persons”: 

http://www.ncba-aged.org/ 

► National Gay and Lesbian Task Force, Make Room for All:  
Diversity, Cultural Competency and Discrimination in an 
Aging America.  Presentations, Testimony, and 
Organizational Materials from the National Gay and Lesbian 
Task Force Summit and Hearing held in Washington, D.C., 
December 11, 2005: 

http://www.globalaging.org/elderrights/us/2006/homelesselderly.
pdf 

► National Indian Council on Aging: 

http://www.thetaskforce.org/downloads/reports/reports/Make 
RoomForAll.pdf 

► National Hispanic Council on Aging: 

http://www.nicoa.org/ 

► National Library of Medicine, National Institutes of Health, 
“Asian American Health”: 

http://www.nhcoa.org/ 

► National Pacific/Asian Resource Center on Aging: 

http://asianamericanhealth.nlm.nih.gov/ 

► Network on Environments, Services and Technologies for 
Maximizing Independence (NEST)—A constituent group of 
the American Society on Aging: 

http://www.napca.org/ 

► Network of Multicultural Aging (NOMA)– A constituent 
group of the American Society on Aging: 

http://www.asaging.org/networks/index.cfm?cg=NEST 
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► Resources for Cross Cultural Health Care and the Henry J. 
Kaiser Family Rural Assistance Center:  “Rural Health 
Disparities”. 

http://www.asaging.org/networks/index.cfm?cg=NOMA 

► Ohmans, Patricia and Marty Cushing, Getting the Word Out:  
Effective Health Outreach to Cultural Communities.  The 
Medtronic Foundation: 

http://www.raconline.org/info_guides/disparities/ 

► Orr, Alberta L. and Priscilla Rogers.  Aging and Vision Loss:  
A Handbook for Families.  American Foundation for the 
Blind:  2006. 

http://www.medtronic.com/downloadablefiles/outreach_ 
brochure.pdf 

► Pfizer Clear Health Communication Initiative.  The Newest 
Vital Sign:  A New Health Literacy Tool for Health Care 
Providers. 

► Schiefelbusch Institute for Life Span Studies, University of 
Kansas:  Guidelines for Reporting and Writing about People 
with Disabilities. 

http://www.pfizerhealthliteracy.com/physicians-providers/newest-
vital-sign.html 

► Senior Service America and the Center for Applied 
Linguistics, A Guide for Providers:  Engaging Immigrant 
Seniors in community Service and Employment Programs,: 

http://www.lsi.ku.edu/~lsi/aboutus/guidelines.shtml 

► Services and Advocacy for Gay and Lesbian, Bisexual and 
Transgender Elders (SAGE) provides service provision 
training. 

http://www.seniorserviceamerica.org/news/cal_guide.html 

► United Spinal Association, “Disability Etiquette:  Tips on 
Interacting with People with Disabilities”: 

www.sageusa.org 

Assessments, Curricula, Training and Career 
Development: 

http://www.unitedspinal.org/pdf/DisabilityEtiquette.pdf 

► American Society on Aging (ASA), Serving Elders of Color 
(SEOC): 

► ASA, New Ventures in Leadership, a leadership program for 
professionals of color in Aging: 

http://www.asaging.org/diversity/seoc/ 

► Capitman, John Amson, Guillermina Hernandez-Gallegos, 
Donna L. Yee, and Wekesa Madzimoyo, Diversity and the 
Aging Network:  an Assessment Handbook, National Aging 
Resource Center:  Long-Term Care, Brandeis University: 

http://www.asaging.org/nvl/index.cfm 

► The Center for Cross Cultural Health, provides cultural 
competency programs, organization assessment tools, and 
education and training resources: 

http://www.alz.org/national/documents/GEN_ASSESS-
LTCDiversityHandbook.pdf 

► Elliott, Candia, R. Jerry Adams, and Suganya Sockalingam, 
Multi-Cultural Toolkit, Toolkit for Cross Cultural 
Collaboration, This study was funded in part by the U.S. 
Office of Minority Affairs: 

www.crosshealth.com 

► Independent Living Research Utilization (ILRU):  IL NET 
Training Net Manuals. 

http://www.awesomelibrary.org/multiculturaltoolkit.html 

► National Association of Area Agencies on Aging (n4a), 
Diversity Advancement Toolkit: 

http://www.ilru.org/html/publications/training_manuals/ 
index.html  

► National Center for Cultural Competence, Georgetown 
University, Cultural Competence Self -Test: 

http://www.n4a.org/resources-publications/tool-kits/?fa=diversity-
toolkit 

► United Way, Cultural Complementary Model: 

http://www.aafp.org/fpm/20001000/58cult.html#boxb 

► Visions Inc., consulting and training in diversity and 
inclusion: 

http://www.unitedwaytwincities.org/ourimpact/culturaldy-
namics_complementarity.cfm 

http://www.visions-inc.org/
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This Appendix describes the components of the Organization Cultural Competence Assessment Profile, developed by The Lewin 
Group for the Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA).

Appendix B:  Organizational Cultural Competence Assessment Profile 
32 The components include 1) domains for assessing cultural 

competence, 2) focus areas that characterize each domain, and 3) cultural competence indicators for health care delivery 
organizations within each domain and focus area (Exhibit B-1). 

Exhibit B-1: Organization Cultural Competence Assessment Profile Components 

 
Domains and Focus Areas 
The Profile includes seven domains for assessing cultural competence. The domains represent critical arenas in which cultural 
competence should be represented in an organization. The respective focus areas identify substantive topic areas that characterize 
each domain. Descriptions of the Profile’s domains and examples of focus areas are included below in Exhibit B-2: 

Exhibit B-2: Organization Cultural Competence Assessment Profile Domains and Focus Areas 

Domain Focus Areas 

Organizational Values 
An organization’s perspective and attitudes regarding the 
worth and importance of cultural competence, and its 
commitment to providing culturally competent care. 

► Leadership, Investment, and Documentation 

► Information/Data Relevant to Cultural Competence 

► Organizational Flexibility 

Governance 
The goal setting, policy-making, and other oversight vehicles an 
organization uses to help ensure the delivery of culturally 
competent care.  

► Community Involvement and Accountability 

► Board Development 

► Policies 
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Exhibit B-2: Organization Cultural Competence Assessment Profile Domains and Focus Areas (Con’t) 

Domain Focus Areas 

Planning and Monitoring/Evaluation 
The mechanisms and processes used for: a) long- and short-
term policy, programmatic, and operational cultural 
competence planning that is informed by external and 
internal consumers; and b) the systems and activities needed 
to proactively track and assess an organization’s level of 
cultural competence. 

► Client, Community, and Staff Input  

► Plans and Implementation 

► Collection and Use of Cultural Competence- Related 
Information/Data 

Communication 
The exchange of information between the 
organization/providers and the clients/population, and 
internally among staff, in ways that promote cultural 
competence.  

► Understanding of Different Communication Needs and 
Styles of Client Population  

► Culturally Competent Oral Communication 

► Culturally Competent Written/Other Communication 

► Communication with Community 

► Intra-Organizational Communication 

Staff Development 
An organization’s efforts to ensure staff and other service 
providers have the requisite attitudes, knowledge and skills 
for delivering culturally competent services. 

► Training Commitment 

► Training Content 

► Staff Performance  

Organizational Infrastructure 
The organizational resources required to deliver or facilitate 
delivery of culturally competent services.  

► Financial/Budgetary 

► Staffing 

► Technology 

► Physical Facility/Environment 

► Linkages 

Services/Interventions 
An organization’s delivery or facilitation of clinical, public 
health, and health related services in a culturally competent 
manner.  

► Client/Family/Community Input 

► Screening/Assessment/Care Planning 

► Treatment/Follow-up  

 

Assessment Profile Indicators 
The Profile specifies specific cultural competence indicators for health care delivery organizations within each domain and focus 
area. The indicators represent observable, measurable characteristics of organizations that signify cultural competence. The Profile’s 
indicators include both quantitative and qualitative data, and assess progress toward achieving results, as well as end processes. As 
shown in Exhibit B-3, the indicators are classified into four categories that assess cultural competence in an organization’s structure, 
processes, outputs, and intermediate outcomes. 
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Exhibit B-3: Organization Cultural Competence Assessment Profile Indicators and Sample Related 
Focus Areas/Perspectives 

Indicator Sample Related Focus Areas/Perspectives 

Structure 
An organization’s capability to support cultural competence 
through adequate and appropriate settings, instruments, and 
infrastructure (e.g., staffing, facilities, equipment, financial 
resources, information systems). 

► Cultural competence curricula address key cultural 
competence-related knowledge, skills, and attitudes 
(as generally applicable and as related to specific 
relevant groups) (focus area: training content) 

► MIS that includes/tracks cultural competence-related 
information on populations and clients served (focus 
area: technology) 

Process 
The content and quality of activities, procedures, methods, and 
interventions in the practice and support of culturally 
competent care. 

► Conducts regular organizational self-assessments 
regarding cultural competence (focus area: 
information/data relevant to cultural competence) 

► Monitors/evaluates implementation and results of 
cultural competence plans/activities as part of quality 
improvement activities (focus area: collection and 
use of cultural competence-related information/data) 

Output 
Immediate results of culturally competent policies, procedures, 
and services that can lead to achieving positive outcomes. 

► Formal cultural competence-related policies exist 
regarding personnel recruitment/retention; 
training/staff development; language 
access/communication; cultural competence-related 
grievances/ complaints; and, community/client input 
(focus area: policies) 

► Signage, administrative documents, health 
information materials, and all key written/other 
materials in language of the groups served (focus 
area: culturally competent written/other 
communication) 

Intermediate Outcomes 
The contribution of cultural competence to the achievement of 
intermediate objectives related to the provision, response, and 
results of care. 

► Rate of appropriate use of services relative to need 
(organizational perspective) 

► Perceptions regarding cultural competence of 
providers/organization and how well the organization 
meets their needs (client perspective) 

► Opinions about the organization and its 
responsiveness to community needs (community 
perspective) 
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